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Defendants Pittsburgh Glass Works, LLC (“PGW”); LYNX Services, LLC (“LYNX”), 

and Safelite Group, Incorporated (“Safelite”) (collectively, the “Non-Insurer Defendants”) 

respectfully submit this joint memorandum of law in support of their motion to dismiss the 

Amended Complaint pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 8, 9(b), and 12(b)(6).1

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

This lawsuit is brought by plaintiff David W. Harner (“Plaintiff”), the sole proprietor of 

an automobile glass repair shop, against fourteen insurance companies (the “Insurer 

Defendants”) and the Non-Insurer Defendants, who are alleged to “act as Third Party 

Administrators that contract with insurers to answer phone calls regarding auto glass claims.”  

Am. Compl. ¶¶ 22, 26-27, 33.  Put simply, Plaintiff complains that the Insurer Defendants 

reimburse for less than the full amounts he charges for auto glass repairs, and that the Insurers 

recommend that insureds use other repair shops if they want to avoid paying excess charges. See 

Am. Compl. ¶¶ 115, 134.  He claims that the Non-Insurer Defendants, as the Insurer Defendants’ 

agents, “enforce” the Insurers’ reimbursement practices.  See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 110, 111.  Plaintiff 

does not deny that insured customers can and do use his repair shop, and that he can seek any 

unpaid balance from the customers themselves.      

Taking the facts alleged in Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint as true, the Non-Insurer 

Defendants, as agents of the Insurer Defendants, have done nothing more than carry out 

insurance claims management policies and processes instituted by the Insurer Defendants.  These 

policies give insureds the option of utilizing auto glass repair shops that agree to cap their fees, 

and thus benefit consumers and encourage competition.  In contrast, Plaintiff’s Complaint is 

1  To avoid redundancy, the Non-Insurer Defendants hereby incorporate the preliminary 
statement and legal arguments in the Insurer Defendants’ Joint Memorandum of Law, and 
write separately to highlight certain fundamental defects in Plaintiff’s claims as applied to 
them. 
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apparently motivated by a desire to protect his business from competition with cheaper glass 

repair shops and to keep consumers in the dark about these lower-cost alternatives.

Instead of asking his customers to pay the balance he claims he is owed, Plaintiff prefers 

to attack the “deeper pockets” of companies with whom he admittedly has no contractual 

relationship. See Am. Compl. ¶ 129.  Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint is littered with conclusory 

statements and unsupported allegations, and lacks essential elements that would constitute a 

claim upon which relief can be granted under any of his legal theories.  Accordingly, the Court 

should grant this motion and dismiss the Amended Complaint with prejudice. 

ARGUMENT 

Plaintiff asserts four causes of action against the Non-Insurer Defendants:  (1) fraud, (2) 

deceptive practices, (3) restraint of trade and unfair trade practices, and (4) tortious interference 

with contract.  “To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual 

matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.’”  Ashcroft v. 

Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009) (quoting Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 

(2007)).  “A pleading that offers labels and conclusions[, ] a formulaic recitation of the elements 

of a cause of action” or “naked assertions devoid of further factual enhancement” “will not do.”  

Id. (quotations omitted).  As such, the Court should accept as true only facts pleaded in the 

Amended Complaint and not conclusory statements, unsupported assertions, or legal 

characterizations couched as factual allegations.   

-2-

Case 7:11-cv-02933-CS   Document 107    Filed 12/12/11   Page 6 of 21



I. PLAINTIFF’S ANTITRUST CLAIM (COUNT IV) MUST BE DISMISSED 

The Amended Complaint’s conspiracy allegations are not easy to decipher and lack 

consistency and coherence.2  Read most favorably to Plaintiff, the Insurer and Non-Insurer 

Defendants allegedly participated in a series of horizontal and vertical conspiracies through 

which Plaintiff’s insured customers were reimbursed, but Plaintiff was not paid the excess 

amounts he charged for his repair services. See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 48-50, 57, 101, 110-11, 200(g), 

201-02, 210.

Plaintiff’s antitrust claims fail as a matter of law for several reasons.  Fundamentally, 

Plaintiff does not allege antitrust injury, which is a threshold pleading requirement for any 

private plaintiff to bring a federal or state law antitrust action.  Plaintiff cannot cure this basic 

defect because the injury he complains of – lower prices – is the antithesis of antitrust injury.  

Lower prices are, of course, good for consumers and are the consequence of competition, not the 

lack thereof.  Further, Plaintiff’s conspiracy claim as alleged against the Non-Insurer Defendants 

is implausible because it is completely consistent with independent competitive action.  

Accordingly, Plaintiff’s Fourth Cause of Action must be dismissed.   

A. Plaintiff Lacks Standing to Assert an Antitrust Claim 

Private plaintiffs suing under the Sherman Act or New York’s Donnelly Act must have 

antitrust standing or injury, i.e., an “‘injury of the type the antitrust laws were intended to prevent 

and that flows from that which makes defendants’ acts unlawful.’” Paycom Billing Servs., Inc. v.

Mastercard Int’l, Inc., 467 F.3d 283, 290 (2d Cir. 2006) (quoting Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo 

Bowl-o-Mat, Inc., 429 U.S. 477, 489 (1977)); Cargill, Inc. v. Monfort of Colo., Inc., 479 U.S. 

2  For example, Plaintiff names the Non-Insurer Defendants in this Count, but omits the Insurer 
Defendants who were purportedly engaging in the objectionable reimbursement practices that 
the Non-Insurer Defendants as their “agents” “enforced.”  See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 110, 111, 210.   

-3-
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104, 110 n.5 (1986) (“A showing of antitrust injury is necessary, but not always sufficient, to 

establish standing . . . .”); George Haug Co. v. Rolls Royce Motor Cars Inc., 148 F.3d 136, 139 

(2d Cir. 1998) (“A private plaintiff seeking to state a claim for violation of sections 1 or 2 of the 

Sherman Act must allege that it has suffered ‘antitrust injury.’”) (citing Atl. Richfield Co. v. USA 

Petroleum Co., 495 U.S. 328, 344 (1990) and G.K.A. Beverage Corp. v. Honickman, 55 F.3d 

762, 766 (2d Cir. 1995)).

1. Plaintiff’s Alleged Injury Results from Competition, Not From Any 
Anticompetitive Act 

Plaintiff objects to insurance practices that admittedly facilitate lower prices for 

consumers.  He also complains that Safelite charges insureds less than it charges uninsured 

customers for glass repairs.  Am. Compl. ¶ 218.  Accepting these allegations as true simply 

means that consumers benefit from the practices he is complaining about.  This is the opposite of 

antitrust injury.  See Brunswick, 429 U.S. at 488 (“[i]t is inimical to the purposes of [the 

antitrust] laws to award damages” for losses stemming from continued competition); Cargill,

Inc., 479 U.S. at 115-17 (stating it would be “perverse” to find that “the antitrust laws protect 

competitors from the loss of profits due to [ ] price competition” and finding no threat of antitrust 

injury where plaintiff would have to lower prices and lose profitability to remain competitive 

with defendants); Brooke Group Ltd. v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 509 U.S. 209, 223-

24 (1993) (holding that low prices from alleged price discrimination did not amount to antitrust 

injury).  As the Supreme Court has explained, “[l]ow prices benefit consumers regardless of how 

they are set.  So long as they are above predatory levels, they do not threaten competition and, 

hence, cannot give rise to antitrust injury.” Atl. Richfield Co., 495 U.S. at 329, 340-41.  Indeed, 

“[s]ince competition, which is the very essence of business, results in lower prices for 

-4-

Case 7:11-cv-02933-CS   Document 107    Filed 12/12/11   Page 8 of 21



consumers, it is a positive aspect of the marketplace.”  Virgin Atl. Airways Ltd. v. British 

Airways PLC, 257 F.3d 256, 259 (2d Cir. 2001). 

Plaintiff does not claim that other repairers’ prices are predatory, i.e., set below their cost 

of providing the services.  Nor does he deny that he could charge less himself.  But instead of 

competing on the merits, he asserts that he should be protected from competition and not be 

“deprive[d] [ ] of operating his business at a level of profit to which he had expected and to 

which he had become accustomed.”  Am. Compl. ¶  226; see also Am. Compl. ¶ 111 

(complaining that “[t]he prices ‘offered’ by those Defendant insurers, and enforced by the 

Defendant TPA’s [sic], have remained substantially the same for more than ten years, and have 

failed to keep pace with inflation . . . .”).  As well-established antitrust precedent makes clear, 

this alleged harm is the antithesis of antitrust injury, and Plaintiff’s antitrust claim must therefore 

be dismissed.     

2. Plaintiff’s Alleged Harm Is Not Harm to Competition 

To assert an antitrust injury, the plaintiff also must plausibly allege that the conduct he 

complains of resulted in harm to competition as a whole, not merely to himself.  “It is axiomatic 

that the antitrust laws were passed for ‘the protection of competition, not competitors.’” Brooke

Group Ltd., 509 U.S. at 224 (quoting Brown Shoe Co. v. United States, 370 U.S. 294, 320 

(1962)).  As the Second Circuit has stated, “‘[i]nsisting on proof of harm to the whole market 

fulfills the broad purpose of the antitrust law that was enacted to ensure competition in general, 

not narrowly focused to protect individual competitors.’”  Elecs. Commc’ns Corp. v. Toshiba 

Am. Consumer Prods., Inc., 129 F.3d 240, 246 (2d Cir. 1997) (quoting Capital Imaging Assocs., 

P.C. v. Mohawk Valley Med. Assocs., Inc., 996 F.2d 537, 543 (2d Cir. 1993)).  For this reason, a 

complaint lacking allegations “as to how market-wide competition [is] affected [ ] fails to allege 

a claim on which relief may be granted.”  Id. at 245.

-5-
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Here, Plaintiff’s alleged injury – an “ascertainable loss” (Am. Compl. ¶ 211) purportedly 

based on “Defendants[’] . . . insist[ance] on paying substantially the same prices . . . for more 

than ten years” (Id. at ¶ 207) – relates to his own profits, not to any injury to competition or 

consumers.  The Amended Complaint makes conclusory references to harm to competition 

without a single factual allegation explaining how market-wide competition is affected.  See,

e.g., Am. Compl. ¶ 49 (stating the Non-Insurer Defendants’ alleged practices “harm[] the 

consumer, the Plaintiff, and the competitors of the Plaintiff, the insurers, and the TPA’s [sic]”); ¶ 

212 (alleging Defendants’ conduct “unjustly enriches the Defendants at the Plaintiff’s expense, 

the consumer’s expense, and the expense of the Plaintiff’s and the Defendants’ competitors”); ¶ 

213 (alleging “that the Defendants committed unfair trade practices because there was substantial 

injury to the Plaintiff, consumers, the Plaintiff’s and the Defendants’ business competitors, and 

other business persons”).  Because Plaintiff’s antitrust claim lacks “any allegation as to how 

market-wide competition [is] affected,” Elecs. Commc’ns Corp, 129 F.3d at 245, Plaintiff fails to 

assert a claim on which relief may be granted.  This fundamental defect cannot be cured because 

Plaintiff’s real complaint is that there is too much – not too little – competition, which may erode 

his profits, but benefits consumers and other repairers that price competitively.   

For all the reasons described above, the Amended Complaint fails to meet the threshold 

requirement of alleging an antitrust injury, and Plaintiff’s antitrust claims must be dismissed. 

B. The Amended Complaint Fails to Plead a Viable Antitrust Conspiracy 

Not only does the Plaintiff lack antitrust standing, but the Amended Complaint’s 

conspiracy claims suffer from other fundamental defects as well.  As the Insurer Defendants 

explain, Plaintiff’s alleged conspiracies lack basic information as to the subject matter, 

conspiratorial acts, and motives for engaging in an illegal agreement.  Although it is difficult to 

-6-
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discern exactly what Plaintiff is alleging, it is clear that his conspiracy theories are implausible 

on their face and entirely consistent with independent competitive action.   

1. The Purported Vertical Conspiracy Between Principals and Their 
“Agents” Must Fail 

Plaintiff tries to mischaracterize ordinary business relationships between individual 

Insurer Defendants and individual Non-Insurer Defendants as an alleged conspiracy in which the 

Non-Insurer Defendants, as “claims management agents” of the Insurer Defendants, act as 

“intermediaries” to “enforce” the Insurer Defendants’ reimbursement practices.  See, e.g., Am. 

Compl. ¶  210 (characterizing the Non-Insurer Defendants as “Claims Management agents”); ¶ 

201 (alleging the Insurer Defendants “us[ed] the Defendant PGW and / or the Defendant Lynx, 

or the Defendant Safelite, as intermediaries”).  Generally, a company and its agents are incapable 

of conspiring among themselves.  See Surgical Care Ctr. v. Hospital Serv. Dist. No. 1, 309 F.3d 

836, 841 (5th Cir. 2002) (“[A]s a matter of law, a corporation and its agent [ ] are incapable of 

conspiring with one another to violate the antitrust laws.”) (quotation omitted); Ill. Corp. Travel, 

Inc. v. Am. Airlines, Inc., 889 F.2d 751, 753 (7th Cir. 1989) (agency relationship precluded 

finding of price fixing); F.B. Leopold Co. v. Roberts Filter Mfg. Co., 882 F. Supp. 433, 446-47 

(W.D. Pa. 1995) (corporation legally incapable of conspiring with its independent sales 

representatives under section 1 of the Sherman Act).  Insofar as the Non-Insurer Defendants are 

alleged to be agents of certain Insurer Defendants, the Amended Complaint itself suggests they 

are not independent actors who are capable of conspiring with the Insurer Defendants.  As such, 

by Plaintiff’s own admission, the Non-Insurer Defendants lack the capacity to conspire, and the 

Amended Complaint’s antitrust conspiracy claims against them must be dismissed.   

Furthermore, Plaintiff’s alleged vertical conspiracy is based on nothing more than 

ordinary course claims management practices that the Non-Insurers were instructed to enforce.  

-7-
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See, e.g., Am. Compl. ¶¶ 110 (“the TPA’s [sic] would enforce the prices that the [I]nsurer 

Defendant’s[sic] instructed [them] to enforce”); see also ¶¶ 57, 111, 200(g).  Because the alleged 

vertical conspiracies are completely consistent with independent conduct, Plaintiff’s claim must 

be dismissed.      

2. The Amended Complaint’s Horizontal Conspiracy Claims Are 
Implausible

To the extent Plaintiff is attempting to allege a conspiracy between Safelite and 

PGW/LYNX, such a claim is implausible.  Plaintiff admits that neither PGW nor LYNX 

compete with Safelite or the Plaintiff.3  It defies logic for Safelite and PGW/LYNX to conspire 

on windshield replacement and repairs when half of the alleged conspiracy – PGW/LYNX – 

does not even operate in that industry.

Furthermore, Plaintiff’s alleged conspiracy to charge less for windshield repair services is 

completely consistent with independent competitive action.  A complaint must be dismissed 

when the court can infer “‘obvious alternative explanation[s],’” that are consistent with lawful 

conduct. Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1951 (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 567).  The obvious alternative 

explanation for Safelite charging less than the Plaintiff is that Safelite chooses to price 

competitively to obtain more business.  See Arista Records LLC v. Lime Group LLC, 532 F. 

Supp. 2d 556, 570 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (“‘cutting prices in order to increase business often is the 

very essence of competition’”) (quoting Atl. Richfield, 495 U.S. at 338).  Accordingly, Plaintiff’s 

horizontal conspiracy claims must be dismissed.  See Kramer v. Pollock-Krasner Found., 890 F. 

Supp. 250, 256 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (“[T]he defendants’ allegedly conspiratorial actions could 

equally have been prompted by lawful, independent goals which do not constitute a conspiracy.  

3  Plaintiff admits that neither PGW, a “wholesaler of new (unused) auto glass and auto glass 
replacement supplies” (Am. Compl. ¶ 89), nor LYNX, an alleged third party claims 
administrator (Id. at ¶ 45), provide glass replacement or repair services. 
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Therefore, even when viewed in a most favorable light as such a motion requires, [plaintiff’s] 

conspiracy claims must be dismissed for failure to allege a sufficient factual basis.”) 

C. The Amended Complaint Fails to State Any Other Viable Antitrust Claim  

The Amended Complaint suggests other purported antitrust claims in passing, but does 

not appear to assert these legal theories as independent grounds for relief.  In any event, it is 

plain that each of these purported claims would fail on the pleadings as well.

1. Any Federal Trade Commission Act Claim Must Be Dismissed 

The Amended Complaint’s assertion of a claim under the Federal Trade Commission 

(“FTC”) Act (Am. Compl. Count IV Preamble, at 56) must fail because there is no private cause 

of action to enforce Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45. See Li Xi v. Apple Inc., 603 F. 

Supp. 2d 464, 470 (E.D.N.Y. 2009) (Section 5 of the FTC Act “may be enforced only by the 

Federal Trade Commission and not by private action; competitors and consumers do not have 

standing to enforce this provision”); Naylor v. Case & McGrath, Inc., 585 F.2d 557, 561 (2d Cir. 

1978) (“[I]t is clear that no private right of action arises under [Section 5 of the FTC Act].”) 

(citing Holloway v. Bristol-Myers Corp., 485 F.2d 986, 987 (D.C. Cir. 1973) (“The central ruling 

in this case holds that private actions to vindicate rights asserted under the Federal Trade 

Commission Act may not be maintained.”)).  Accordingly, any claim under the FTC Act must be 

dismissed.   

2. Any Monopolization Claim Must Be Dismissed 

The Amended Complaint makes passing reference to “monopoly” (Am. Compl. ¶ 204), 

suggesting that the Non-Insurer Defendants, through conspiracy or otherwise, somehow created 

a monopoly or a dangerous probability of achieving a monopoly.  Assuming that Plaintiff seeks 

to rely on Section 2 of the Sherman Act, this claim must be dismissed, inter alia, for failure to 

plead that any Defendant has (or has a dangerous probability of obtaining) monopoly power in 

-9-
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any relevant product or geographic market in which the Plaintiff competes.  See Kramer, 890 F. 

Supp. at 257 (“[Plaintiff] neither alleges what market share [defendants] control nor facts 

demonstrating that either has the power to monopolize the Pollock auction submarket.  

Therefore, [plaintiff’s] monopolization claims must be dismissed.”).4

D. The New York Antitrust Claims Fail Along with the Federal Claims 

Plaintiff’s claims under New York’s antitrust law, Sections 340-347 of New York’s 

General Business Law, known as the Donnelly Act, fail for the same reasons as the federal 

claims.  The New York Court of Appeals has consistently held that (with exceptions not relevant 

here) the Donnelly Act should be construed to follow federal antitrust precedents. People v. 

Rattenni, 613 N.E.2d 155, 158 (N.Y. 1993) (stating the Donnelly Act “should generally be 

construed in light of Federal precedent”) (quotation omitted).  Thus, federal courts routinely 

dismiss Donnelly Act claims when parallel federal Sherman Act claims are dismissed for failure 

to state a claim.  See Clorox Co. v. Winthrop, 836 F. Supp. 983, 988 n.3 (E.D.N.Y. 1993) (“No 

separate analysis is required under the Donnelly Act because this Act is construed in light of 

federal precedent . . . .”) (quotation omitted); Perfumer’s Workshop, Ltd. v. Roure Betrand du 

Pont, Inc., 737 F. Supp. 785, 791 (S.D.N.Y. 1990) (dismissing Sherman Act claim, and therefore 

dismissing Donnelly Act claim as well).  Because the analysis of the federal antitrust claims 

applies equally to the state antitrust claims, Plaintiff’s New York antitrust claims must also be 

dismissed. 

4  The Amended Complaint also contains a wholly unsupported allegation that Insurer 
Defendant Nationwide receives kickbacks from Non-Insurer Defendant Safelite.  Am. 
Compl. ¶ 203.  Not only is this accusation entirely conclusory, lacking any factual allegations 
whatsoever, but it is also gratuitous as Plaintiff makes no attempt to link it to any cause of 
action.
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II. PLAINTIFF’S FRAUD CLAIM (COUNT II) MUST BE DISMISSED 

Plaintiff’s claims based on allegedly fraudulent or deceptive statements are fatally 

defective as well.  To state a claim for fraud under New York law, a plaintiff must properly plead 

(1) a misrepresentation of material fact made by the defendant; (2) that the defendant knew was 

false and made with the intention to defraud the plaintiff; (3) plaintiff’s justifiable reliance on the 

misrepresentation; and (4) resulting damages to plaintiff.  See Lama Holding Co. v. Smith Barney 

Inc., 668 N.E.2d 1370, 1373 (N.Y. 1996).  Plaintiff’s claim against the Non-Insurer Defendants 

must be dismissed because it fails to allege essential facts to support the elements of a fraud 

claim.   

First, Plaintiff does not allege that any of the purportedly fraudulent “scripted statements” 

were made to him and thus cannot claim to have relied to his detriment on these statements.  

Second, Plaintiff never explains how insureds were mislead by the statements he objects to.  To 

the contrary, the statements he takes issue with provide information to insureds that could help 

them make more informed choices.  Furthermore, Plaintiff does not deny that customers continue 

to use his repair shop.  His sole allegation is that one or two potential customers chose not to use 

his higher cost repair shop after being informed of cheaper alternatives (Am. Compl. ¶¶  200(f), 

220), the proper solution to which is not to sue the lower-cost repairers, but to charge 

competitive prices himself.   

A. Plaintiff Fails to Allege Any False or Misleading Statements 

Plaintiff complains that certain “scripted statements” used by the Non-Insurer Defendants 

notify insureds that they will be responsible for partial charges if they use Plaintiff’s shop.  See

Am. Compl. ¶¶ 155 (c), (e); 200(f), (h).  There is nothing misleading about these statements.  

Indeed, the gist of Plaintiff’s complaint is that insurance reimbursements do not cover the entire 

amount he charges for repairs.  See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 133-88.  Furthermore, the alleged statements 
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are consistent with New York law, which provides that “the insurer is not financially responsible 

for any excess repair cost over the cost the recommended facility would have charged had it 

performed the glass damage repair.”  N.Y. Dep’t of Ins. Office of Gen. Counsel Op. re: Glass 

Claims (Mar. 6, 2002) (annexed as Ex. A to Douglas W. Dunham’s Declaration in Support of the 

Insurer Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss).  As a result, the alleged statements are not only true and 

informative as to New York law, they ensure that insureds are informed that they will be liable 

for excess charges should they use repair shops that charge more than the insurer’s recommended 

shops.5

Plaintiff also takes issue with alleged statements recommending that insureds use repair 

shops other than the Plaintiff’s shop.6 See Am. Compl. ¶ 155 (a), (f), (g).  As the New York 

Department of Insurance General Counsel has observed, however, because “[t]he [New York] 

Legislature has specifically chosen to exempt glass damage repair from the bar against insurer 

recommendation or referral to a specified facility,” “[a]n insurer may recommend to its insureds 

that they bring their automobile to a specified facility for glass damage repair.”  N.Y. Dep’t of 

Ins. Office of Gen. Counsel Op. Accordingly, glass repair shop recommendations are consistent 

with New York law, and Plaintiff makes no allegations suggesting that such statements are 

misleading.   

5  Therefore, the “scripted statements” not only fail to meet the first two elements of fraud 
pertaining to falsity, but also the final element relating to damages.  The scripted statements 
make insureds better off by informing them that they will be responsible for any excess 
charges if they use shops other than recommended repair shops.          

6   Plaintiff also avers that “in no instance has any insurer recommended or suggested that any 
insured use a repair shop other than the Plaintiff’s.”  Am. Compl. ¶ 41.
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B. Plaintiff Has Not Reasonably Relied on Any Statements Made by the Non-
Insurer Defendants 

The “scripted statements” the Non-Insurer Defendants allegedly use are made to insureds, 

not to him.  See Am. Compl. ¶ 115 (“The series of scripted statements created by insurers and the 

Defendant PGW and / or the Defendant LYNX, and the Defendant Safelite for use by the 

Defendant PGW and / or the Defendant LYNX, and the Defendant Safelite while speaking to 

claimants . . . .”) (emphasis added).  Therefore, Plaintiff could never have reasonably relied on 

the Non-Insurer Defendants’ alleged statements to his detriment.   

Because Plaintiff’s allegations fail to meet the elements for fraud, his Second Cause of 

Action must be dismissed.   

III. PLAINTIFF’S CLAIM FOR DECEPTIVE PRACTICES (COUNT III) MUST BE 
DISMISSED

The Amended Complaint alleges violations of Section 349 of New York’s General 

Business Law.  Section 349 provides that “[d]eceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any 

business, trade or commerce or in the furnishing of any service in this state are hereby declared 

unlawful.”  N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 349(a).  Plaintiff must allege that “(1) the defendant’s 

deceptive acts were directed at consumers; (2) the acts are misleading in a material way; and (3) 

the plaintiff has been injured as a result” to state a cause of action under this statute. Maurizio v. 

Goldsmith, 230 F.3d 518, 521 (2d Cir. 2000) (citing Oswego Laborers’ Local 214 Pension Fund 

v. Marine Midland Bank, 647 N.E.2d 741, 744 (N.Y. 1995)).  Business competitors can bring a 

claim under Section 349 only where the public interest is at issue. See S.Q.K.F.C., Inc. v. Bell 

Atl. Tricon Leasing Corp., 84 F.3d 629, 636 (2d Cir. 1996) (noting claim under Section 349 

“requires a finding of conduct that is consumer-oriented” and that would mislead a reasonable 

consumer causing actual injury) (quotation omitted).   
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When a business competitor makes a Section 349 claim, “the gravamen of the complaint 

must be consumer injury or harm to the public interest.”  Securitron Magnalock Corp. v. 

Schnabolk, 65 F.3d 256, 264 (2d Cir. 1995) (citation omitted).  “Claims that arise out of . . . 

disputes between competitors where the core of the claim is harm to another business as opposed 

to consumers . . . reflect a public harm that is too insubstantial to satisfy the pleading 

requirements of § 349.”  Gucci Am., Inc. v. Duty Free Apparel Ltd., 277 F. Supp. 2d 269, 273-74 

(S.D.N.Y. 2003) (collecting cases); Maurizio, 230 F.3d at 521 (“‘Private contract disputes, 

unique to the parties . . . [do] not fall within the ambit of the statute.’”) (quoting Oswego

Laborers’ Local 214 Pension Fund, 647 N.E.2d at 744). 

Here, the Plaintiff has failed to plead any facts from which the Court could infer a 

consumer injury or a harm to the public interest.  In fact, Plaintiffs’ allegations suggest that 

consumers have benefitted from the practices he complains of.  Plaintiff contends that the 

Defendants’ practices have resulted in prices that “have remained substantially the same for 

more than ten years.”  Am. Compl. ¶ 111.  Thus, Plaintiff’s interests are directly at odds with 

those of consumers.  He seeks to protect his profit margins and objects to lower pricing that 

benefits consumers.  See, e.g., Am. Compl. ¶¶ 140, 215, 226, 231.  Because the core of 

Plaintiff’s claim is harm to himself as opposed to consumers, his Section 349 must be dismissed.  

See Maurizio, 230 F.3d at 522 (where the “dispute is fairly characterized as private, unique to 

[the parties], and without direct impact on the body of consumers . . . it does not implicate New 

York’s consumer protection provisions” and should be dismissed); Eyal R.D. Corp. v. Jewelex 

New York Ltd., 784 F. Supp. 2d 441, 450 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (holding that because plaintiff “pleads 

only an injury to itself, and not to the public harm[, its Section 349] claim is dismissed as 

insufficiently pleaded.”) (citing Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949).

-14-

Case 7:11-cv-02933-CS   Document 107    Filed 12/12/11   Page 18 of 21



IV. PLAINTIFF’S CLAIM FOR TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH CONTRACT 
(COUNT V) MUST BE DISMISSED

As his Fifth Cause of Action, Plaintiff alleges that all Defendants are liable for tortious 

interference with contract or tortious interference with inchoate contract.  To state a claim for 

tortious interference, a plaintiff must allege “that (1) it had a business relationship with a third 

party; (2) the defendant knew of that relationship and intentionally interfered with it; (3) the 

defendant acted solely out of malice, or used dishonest, unfair, or improper means; and (4) the 

defendant’s interference caused injury to the relationship.”  Kirch v. Liberty Media Corp., 449 

F.3d 388, 400 (2d Cir. 2006) (quotation omitted).  The New York Court of Appeals has held that 

unless the conduct at issue is “criminal or independently tortious,” plaintiffs must allege that 

“defendant[s] [have] engage[d] in conduct for the sole purpose of inflicting intentional harm on 

plaintiffs” to make out a claim for tortious interference.  Carvel Corp. v. Noonan, 818 N.E.2d 

1100, 1103 (N.Y. 2004).  Accordingly, where the defendant acts, at least in part, in furtherance 

of its “normal economic self-interest,” a claim for tortious interference will not lie. Id.; Hassan 

v. Deutsche Bank A.G., 515 F. Supp. 2d 426, 430 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (“A motive of ‘normal 

economic self-interest’ is inconsistent with a sole purpose of inflicting intentional harm.”) 

(quoting Carvel Corp, 818 N.E.2d at 1103).

Here, the Amended Complaint is completely bereft of factual allegations of wrongful 

conduct.  Rather, Plaintiff’s claim is composed of conclusory statements, unsupported 

allegations, and legal conclusions that do not support a tortious interference claim.  See, e.g., 

Am. Compl. ¶¶ 226-30.  Because Plaintiff does not plead this essential element of tortious 

interference, his claim must therefore be dismissed.  See Alexander & Alexander of N.Y., Inc. v. 

Fritzen, 503 N.E.2d 102, 103 (N.Y. 1986) (affirming dismissal of claim for interference with 

prospective economic advantage because complaint contained no allegation that defendant acted 
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solely for the purpose of injuring plaintiff); Monex Fin. Servs., Ltd. v. Dynamic Currency 

Conversion, Inc., 878 N.Y.S.2d 432, 433 (N.Y. App. Div. 2009) (holding tortious interference 

with prospective business relations claim should have been dismissed “since the plaintiffs did not 

plead that . . . any of the defendants [were] motivated solely by malice or to inflict injury by 

unlawful means, beyond mere self interest or other economic considerations”); WFB 

Telecomc’ns., Inc. v. NYNEX Corp., 590 N.Y.S.2d 460, 462 (N.Y. App. Div. 1992) (dismissing 

claim for tortious interference alleging “in a conclusory fashion, unsupported by factual 

allegations, that defendants’ sole intent was to harm plaintiffs”).  Indeed, for all the reasons 

described above, Plaintiff has not alleged any conduct by the Non-Insurers other than ordinary 

course business activities in furtherance of their own economic self-interest.  Accordingly, 

Plaintiff’s claim for tortious interference must be dismissed.  
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